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MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Defendants Wellton-Mohawk Irrigation and Drainage District and Charles W. 

Slocum, its General Manager, (collectively, “District”) move for a summary judgment in 

their favor pursuant to F.R.Civ.P. 56, dismissing with prejudice all claims alleged in the 

First Amended Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief (“Complaint”) filed by 

plaintiff Quechan Indian Tribe of the Fort Yuma Indian Reservation ("Tribe").   

This motion is supported by the District's separate statement of facts ("DSOF") 

filed with this motion, the administrative record relating to the challenged agency action, 

and the pleadings and other filings in the record of this case.  The District incorporates by 

reference and joins in the respective motions for summary judgment filed by the U.S. 

Department of the Interior, et al. (“Federal Defendants”), and defendants Arizona Clean 

Fuels Yuma, LLC and Glen McGinnis ("ACF").   

I. BRIEF STATEMENT OF THE MOTION 

In its Complaint, the Tribe alleges that the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (“BOR”), 

the primary defendant in this case, violated the National Environmental Policy Act of 

1969 (“NEPA”), 42 U.S.C. § 4332, et seq., and the National Historic Preservation Act 

(“NHPA”), 16 U.S.C. § 470, et seq., in connection with transferring certain land 

(including rights-of-way and easements) containing various canals, pumping plants, wells, 

laterals, drains, power lines, buildings, flood control structures and other improvements to 

the District, which is a political subdivision of the State of Arizona and operates these 

facilities under contract with the United States.  DSOF ¶¶ 8-10.  The transfer of these 

lands and facilities was made under the Wellton-Mohawk Transfer Act, Pub. L. No. 106-

221, 114 Stat. 351, enacted in 2000 (“Transfer Act”).  Id. at ¶¶ 13-14.   

Prior to transferring any land and facilities to the District, BOR completed an 

environmental impact statement that evaluated the impacts of the transfer on cultural and 

other resources.  Final Environmental Impact Statement for Transfer of Title to Facilities, 
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Works and Lands of the Gila Project, Wellton-Mohawk Division to Wellton-Mohawk 

Irrigation and Drainage District (December 2006) ("FEIS").  DSOF ¶ 38.  On March 26, 

2007, the BOR issued its the Record of Decision for the Wellton-Mohawk Title Transfer 

("ROD"), and, on that same day, conveyed approximately 39,000 acres of land to the 

District.  The District then conveyed 1,460 acres of land to ACF.  Id. at ¶ 39.  

Approximately 8,000 acres of land have not been transferred.   Id. at ¶¶ 39, 86. 

The Tribe’s Complaint contains four claims for relief against BOR.  The Tribe 

claims that BOR violated NEPA and the NHPA by failing to properly analyze the impacts 

of the land Title Transfer.  In addition, the Tribe alleges that BOR violated the Transfer 

Act and a section of the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 706, in 

authorizing the land transfer.  The Tribe named the District and ACF as defendants, but 

does not allege that they have violated any laws, regulations or other legal requirements.   

This Court previously addressed the primary NEPA and NHPA arguments asserted 

by the Tribe in denying the Tribe's request for a preliminary injunction.  See Findings of 

Fact and Conclusions of Law dated June 29, 2007 (“Order”) (Doc. #85).  The Tribe’s 

Complaint is premised on the same legal arguments and factual allegations relating to the 

NEPA and NHPA issues as its prior injunction request.  Thus, the findings of fact and 

conclusions of law contained in the Order support granting this motion on the merits.1  

This motion focuses on the Tribe’s NEPA claims, which are the focal point of the 

Complaint.  The administrative record establishes that BOR followed the procedures 

required by NEPA, and appropriately evaluated the impacts on the environment caused by 

the transfer of the facilities and related land to the District.  The BOR has no regulatory 
                                              
1 The District recognizes that "the findings of fact and conclusions of law made by a Court 
granting a preliminary injunction are not binding at trial on the merits”.  University of 
Texas v. Camenisch, 451 U.S. 390, 395 (1981).  See also Southern Oregon Barter Fair v. 
Jackson County, 372 F.3d 1128, 1136 (9th Cir. 2004).  Even so, the Tribe’s Complaint is 
based on the same factual record and legal arguments as the Tribe’s motion for temporary 
injunction, which was denied by this Court in the June 29 Order.  The administrative 
record does not contain any facts that would alter the Court’s prior ruling. 
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authority over ACF’s proposed refinery, and the transfer of land pursuant to the Transfer 

Act did not cause the refinery to be proposed.  As explained below, under Department of 

Transp. v. Public Citizen, 541 U.S. 752, 756 (2004), BOR was not required to evaluate the 

effects of this proposed (and speculative) refinery project because it is not an effect of the 

action (the land transfer), nor is the refinery project a connected action.  Moreover, BOR 

did address the refinery project in the FEIS and, again, in the ROD in response to the 

Tribe’s comments on the FEIS.  DSOF ¶¶ 48-49.  The administrative record also shows 

that BOR made a reasonable and good faith effort to locate eligible cultural sites, 

conducting an inventory of all undisturbed land and a geomorphologic study of the Gila 

River floodplain and adjacent areas in the District, and that the BOR properly considered 

the impacts on the limited cultural resources in the area caused by the Title Transfer in its 

NEPA documents.  Id. at ¶¶ 57-83. 

As a matter of law, the Tribe cannot demonstrate that BOR’s decision was 

“arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion or otherwise not in accordance with law.”  5 

U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).  See also Public Citizen, 541 U.S. at 763.  Therefore, the Tribe’s 

claims should be dismissed with prejudice.   

II. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL FACTS 

The District has submitted a separate statement of material facts in accordance with 

Local Rule (Civil) 56.1, which is incorporated herein by reference.  For the Court’s 

convenience, the District provides the following factual summary. 

A. The District and the Wellton-Mohawk Transfer Act 

The District was created by the Arizona legislature on July 23, 1951, and is a 

political subdivision of the State of Arizona.  DSOF ¶ 1. The District was formed to 

operate the Wellton-Mohawk Division of the Gila Project, a federal water reclamation 

project authorized on June 21, 1937, and to deliver Colorado River water to member lands 

for agricultural irrigation.  Id. at ¶ 2. The District utilizes the Project’s works and facilities 
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to deliver Colorado River water for irrigating crops and domestic uses, and to provide 

electric power, flood control and other essential services to land and residents in the 

Wellton-Mohawk Valley, east of Yuma.  Id.  The District was provided a certificate of 

discharge of its repayment obligations by the United States in 1991.  Id. at ¶ 5. 

On July 10, 1998, the District and BOR entered into a Memorandum of Agreement 

governing the transfer of title to the works and facilities of the Wellton-Mohawk Division 

to the District (“MOA”).  Id. at ¶¶ 7-9.  Under the MOA, BOR agreed to transfer “the 

works and facilities of the [Wellton-Mohawk] Division, or portions thereof, constructed 

by the United States for the District” and associated land (including easements and rights-

of-way).  MOA at 4.  BOR also agreed to transfer certain “Withdrawn Lands,” which are 

“those lands within and adjacent to the District that have been withdrawn from public use 

for Reclamation purposes” (MOA at 3-4), and certain “Acquired Lands,” which are “those 

lands within or adjacent to the [Wellton-Mohawk] Division acquired by the United States 

pursuant to Public Law 93-320 or Public Law 100-512” (MOA at 2).2     

The MOA does not restrict future uses of the Withdrawn Lands and the Acquired 

Lands.  Rather, the MOA provides only that “[t]he District will ensure that the works, 

facilities, and lands to be transferred will be operated in accordance with authorized 

purposes.  No change in project purpose, operation, or use is contemplated or intended by 

the District or the United States as a result of this transfer.” MOA at 4, DSOF ¶ 11.  It is 

undisputed that the proposed land transfer does not result in any change in the operation 

of the project’s works and facilities, which continue to be used by the District to provide 

water for irrigation and other essential services.  DSOF ¶¶ 12, 41. 

On June 20, 2000, Congress enacted the Transfer Act, which provides:  

                                              
2 The MOA also includes “Public Lands, which are “public lands within and adjacent to 
the Division that the Secretary of the Interior, at his discretion, is authorized to sell to the 
District at fair market value.”  MOA at 3, DSOF ¶ 9.  No Public Lands were transferred to 
the District. 
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The Secretary of the Interior (Secretary) is authorized to carry 
out the terms of the Memorandum of Agreement No. 8-AA-
34-WA014 (Agreement) dated July 10, 1998 between the 
Secretary and the Wellton-Mohawk Irrigation and Drainage 
District (District) providing for the transfer of works, facilities 
and lands to the District, including conveyances of Acquired 
Lands, Public Lands and Withdrawn Lands, as defined in the 
Agreement. 

Pub. L. No. 106-221, § 2, 114 Stat. 351.  The Transfer Act’s preamble states that its 

purpose is to “authorize the Secretary of the Interior to convey certain works, facilities 

and titles of the Gila Project, and designated lands within or adjacent to the Gila Project, 

to the Wellton-Mohawk Irrigation and Drainage District, and for other purposes.”  Id.  

In connection with transferring the land and facilities to the District (“the Title 

Transfer”), the BOR was required to comply with certain federal laws, including NEPA 

the NHPA.  MOA at 2.3  The District was required to pay the appraised fair market value 

for the Acquired Lands and the Withdrawn Lands.  MOA at 4; DSOF ¶¶ 9-10.  Other 

costs and expenses related to the Title Transfer were allocated between the parties.  See, 

e.g., MOA at 7-8.  Notably, the District and BOR were jointly responsible for determining 

the land, works and facilities that would be transferred to the District (“the Transfer 

Lands”).  MOA at 9.  Neither the MOA nor the Transfer Act provided BOR with authority 

to approve or otherwise control the future use of the Transfer Lands.  See Transfer Act, § 

2; DSOF ¶¶ 11-15. 

B. BOR’s NEPA Process for the Title Transfer 

1. BOR’s DEIS 

In August 2003, BOR circulated a draft environmental impact statement on the 

Title Transfer (“DEIS”) for public comment.  DSOF ¶¶ 17-20.  In the DEIS, the District 

                                              
3 The House Committee that considered the Transfer Act noted that NEPA should not be 
used “as a means to stall, or halt a project from transferring to a local entity.  If 
environmental documentation is need to facilitate a transfer, it is the intent of the 
Committee to have it done in a timely manner.”  See H.R. Rep. No. 106-257, at 4 (2001) 
(attached as exhibit A).  
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identified 9,800 acres of land eligible to be to transferred as candidate land for 

commercial and industrial development in accordance with Yuma County’s existing 

development plan.  Id. at ¶ 20. The DEIS contains multiple references to possible 

“industrial” development on Transfer Lands.  Id. at ¶ 21.  Consequently, from the outset, 

BOR recognized that some of the Transfer Lands would be sold by the District or used for 

other purposes, including commercial and industrial uses.4  Id. at ¶¶ 15, 21. Notably, the 

Tribe did not provide written or oral comments to BOR on the DEIS.  Id. at ¶¶ 23-25.5 

2. BOR’s FEIS and Record of Decision 

BOR issued its FEIS in December 2006.  The FEIS contains an extensive analysis 

of the potential environmental impacts resulting from the title transfer.  Id. at ¶¶ 39-57.   

The FEIS contains an extensive analysis of cumulative impacts on pages 4-1 to 4-14, and 

Appendices D and E, including land resources and use (§4.2.2.1), water resources 

(§4.2.2.2), air quality (§4.2.2.3), biological resources (§4.2.2.4), cultural resources 

(§4.2.2.5), transportation (§4.2.2.6), visual resources (§4.2.2.7) and noise (§4.2.2.8).  

DSOF at ¶¶ 43-44.  The FEIS also contains an extensive Land Use Evaluation in 

Appendix E.  DSOF ¶ 44. 

3. BOR’s Analysis of the Refinery Project 

ACF announced its plans to locate an oil refinery in Yuma County in November 

2003, after the DEIS was issued.  Id. at ¶ 45.  ACF identified two potential sites for the 

refinery, one located on land eligible to be transferred to the District and other on private 

land.  Id.  Representatives of the Quechans attended project meetings on August 27, 2004, 

                                              
4 In the DEIS, for example, BOR discussed the planned construction of a power 
generation facility (which was ultimately canceled) on a portion of the land to be 
transferred to the District.   DSOF ¶ 22.   That power plant also is referenced on page 1-11 
of the FEIS.  Id. 
 
5 The Tribe subsequently provided NEPA comments on January 30, 2007, by a letter from 
the Tribe’s attorneys, after issuance of the FEIS.  DSOF ¶¶ 23-24 .  BOR considered and 
responded to those comments in the ROD issued on March 26, 2007.  Id. at ¶¶ 25-26. 
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September 29, 2004, and October 29, 2004, during which BOR, the Tribe and the District 

discussed the proposed refinery and other potential industrial projects.  Id. at ¶¶ 48-50. 

BOR discussed the refinery in the FEIS, and provided a detailed discussion of 

potential impacts of the refinery (as well as other, future land uses) in Chapter 4, which 

addresses other NEPA considerations, including cumulative effects.  See FEIS at 4-1 to 4-

13.  BOR also provided a list of various federal permits and approvals required for 

construction of the refinery project in the FEIS, which would trigger compliance with 

NEPA and the NHPA.  Id. at 1-12.  Consequently, construction of the refinery cannot 

occur until the NEPA and NHPA processes are completed by the Bureau of Land 

Management (“BLM”) and other federal agencies with involvement in the refinery 

project.  Id.  BOR also addressed the refinery in the ROD, and provided detailed responses 

to comments submitted by the Tribe on the FEIS in January 2007.  ROD at 8-10.   

C. BOR’s Cultural Resources Surveys and NHPA Process 

1. BOR Conducted the Most Comprehensive Cultural Resource 
Inventory Yet Undertaken in the Project Area 

“In consultation with the Arizona State Historic Preservation Office (“SHPO”) and 

Tribes, BOR designed and implemented a cultural resources program to determine the 

nature and extent of cultural resources on lands proposed for transfer, in accordance with 

36 C.F.R. § 800.4.”  DSOF ¶ 60.  See also id. at ¶¶ 61-73. 

As ultimately configured, the title transfer involved 47,538 acres with 19 eligible 

cultural sites.  Id. at ¶ 69.  SHPO concurred with BOR’s eligibility determinations by 

letters dated November 28, 2005 and May 1, 2006.  Id.  The Advisory Council on Historic 

Preservation (“ACHP”) approved BOR’s cultural resource investigation, and specifically 

determined “that BOR has made a reasonable and good faith effort to identify 

archaeological properties listed on or eligible for the national register.  A 100 percent 

survey of affected lands, locating all historic properties within the area of potential affects, 
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is not a requirement of the ACHP’s regulations.”  Id. at ¶ 71.  BOR determined that “the 

surveys conducted for this project constitute the most comprehensive cultural resource 

inventory conducted in this region to date.”  Id. at ¶ 72.   

2. The Tribe Failed to Identify Any Undiscovered Cultural Sites on 
the Transfer Lands 

In connection with the NHPA process (which began in 2002), BOR consulted 

various interested Indian Tribes, including the Quechans, concerning the Title Transfer, 

and conducted site visits and tribal information exchange meetings conducted on a 

monthly since 2004.  Id. at ¶¶ 77-86.  More than 30 informational and government-to-

government meetings were held with various Indian Tribes, including the Quechans, and 

numerous concessions were made as a result of tribal concerns and comments.  Id. at ¶ 35.  

BOR held numerous meetings with the Tribe’s representatives and responded to all of the 

Tribe’s comments.  Id. at ¶¶ 77-86.   

Throughout this process, BOR and the District consulted the Tribe and requested 

identification of eligible sites from the Quechans.  On October 13, 2005, for example, 

BOR specifically requested information from all Tribes (including the Quechans) 

concerning the “location of Traditional Cultural Properties in [the] Project Area.”  Id. at ¶ 

75.  Despite numerous opportunities for comment, “the Quechan Tribe has not identified 

any specific TCPs or other eligible sites in the Title Transfer Area that Reclamation failed 

to investigate or consider.”  ROD at 11.   

D. The March 26, 2007 Title Transfer and the Tribe’s Complaint. 

Ultimately, on March 26, 2007, BOR issued the ROD, approving the title transfer 

as required under the MOA.  DSOF ¶ 39.  BOR conveyed the project works and facilities 

to the District, along with portions of the Acquired Lands and Withdrawn Lands.  Id. at ¶ 

87.  This land contained a total of 39,142.21 acres, including the project works, facilities 

and associated land (28,197 acres).  Id. at ¶ 86-88.  The District, in turn, conveyed 1,460 
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acres of that land to ACF.  Id. at ¶ 86. 

The Transfer Lands that have been conveyed to the District do not contain any 

known cultural resources or eligible sites.  The 19 known eligible sites occur on land that 

has not been conveyed by BOR to the District, and that land will remain in federal 

ownership until the NHPA process is completed with respect to those lands.  Id. at ¶¶ 83-

86.  As confirmed in the FEIS, the Title Transfer has not changed the purpose of the 

project’s works and facilities, which will continue to be operated and maintained by the 

District just as they have been for over 50 years.  Id. at ¶¶ 12, 44. 

On March 30, 2007 Plaintiff filed a complaint for injunctive relief against the 

Federal Defendants, the District and ACF (Doc. # 1).  The Tribe filed its First Amended 

Complaint on September 18, 2007 (Doc. #125).  In its prayer for relief, the Tribe seeks 

declaratory relief and an injunction against BOR prohibiting the transfer of land and 

facilities to the District, and an order voiding the March 26, 2007 conveyances.  See 

Compl. pp. 36-38 (prayer for relief).   

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The APA, 5 U.S.C. § 701, et seq., governs judicial review of agency decisions 

under NEPA and NHPA.  Anderson v. Evans, 371 F.3d 475, 486 (9th Cir. 2004).  In order 

to prevail on the merits of its claims, the Tribe must demonstrate that BOR’s actions were 

“arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion or otherwise not in accordance with law.”  5 

U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).  This Court must apply a narrow and deferential standard of review: 

[I]n making the factual inquiry concerning whether an agency 
decision was “arbitrary or capricious,” the reviewing court 
“must consider whether the decision was based on a 
consideration of the relevant factors and whether there has 
been a clear error of judgment.”  This inquiry must “be 
searching and careful,” but “the ultimate standard of review is 
a narrow one.” 

Marsh v. Oregon Natural Res. Council, 490 U.S. 360, 378 (1989).   

This Court is “not empowered to substitute its judgment for that of the agency.” 
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Citizens to Preserve Overton Park, Inc. v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 416 (1971).  Rather, the 

Court must affirm if BOR “considered the relevant factors and articulated a rational 

connection between the facts found and the choices made.”  Ranchers Cattlemen Action 

Legal Fund United Stockgrowers of Am. V. U.S. Dep’t of Agr., 2007 WL 2421423 at *4 

(9th Cir. Aug. 28, 2007), citing City of Sausalito v. O’Neill, 386 F.3d 1186, 1206 (9th Cir. 

2004).  "This standard of review is ‘highly deferential, presuming the agency action to be 

valid and affirming the agency action if a reasonable basis exists for its decision.’"  Id. at 

*4, citing Ind. Acceptance Co. v. California, 204 F.3d 1247, 1251 (9th Cir. 2000).   

 Summary judgment is mandated “against a party who fails to make a sufficient 

showing to establish the existence of an element essential to that party’s case, and on 

which the party will bear the burden of proof at trial.”  Voss v. U.S., 2007 WL 2274772 at 

* 4 (D. Ariz. Aug. 7, 2007), citing Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).  

Summary judgment should be granted when there are not any genuine issues of material 

fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  F.R.Civ.P. 56(c)  

Under the APA, "[t]he function of the district court is to determine whether or not as a 

matter of law the evidence in the administrative record permitted the agency to make the 

decision it did."  Occidental Eng. Co. v. INS, 753 F.2d 766, 770 (9th Cir. 1985). 

IV. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. The Basic Obligations Imposed by NEPA 

It is well established that “NEPA imposes only procedural requirements on federal 

agencies with a particular focus on requiring federal agencies to undertake analyses of the 

environmental impact of their proposals and actions.”  Public Citizen, 541 U.S. at 756-

757.  NEPA does not dictate substantive results or expand an agency’s regulatory 

authority, as suggested in the Tribe’s Complaint: 

[I]t is now well settled that NEPA itself does not mandate 
particular results, but simply prescribes the necessary process.  
If the adverse environmental effects of the proposed action are 
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adequately identified and evaluated, the agency is not 
constrained by NEPA from deciding that other values 
outweigh the environmental costs. … Other statutes may 
impose substantive environmental obligations on federal 
agencies, but NEPA merely prohibits uninformed – rather than 
unwise – agency action. 

Robertson v. Methow Valley Citizens Council, 490 U.S. 332, 350-351 (1989) (citations 

and footnote omitted). See also Cold Mtn. v. Garber, 375 F.3d 884, 892 (9th Cir. 2004) 

(NEPA “does not mandate particular substantive results, but instead imposes only 

procedural requirements”).  Consequently, in Robertson, the Supreme Court explained 

that NEPA does not impose a substantive duty on agencies to mitigate adverse 

environmental effects or to include a fully-developed mitigation plan in an EIS.  NEPA 

requires adequate disclosure and discussion of the environmental consequences of the 

proposed federal action, but does not mandate a particular result or require that all 

environmental impacts be mitigated.  490 U.S. at 353.  See also City of Carmel-By-the-

Sea v. U.S. Dept. of Transp., 123 F.3d 1142, 1153 - 1154 (9th Cir. 1997); Inland  Empire 

Pub. Lands Council v. U.S. Forest Service, 88 F.3d 754, 758 (9th Cir. 1996).6  

B. BOR’s Evaluation of the Effects of the Title Transfer Complied with 
NEPA 

1. Overview of the Tribe’s Principal NEPA Claim 

The Tribe’s primary claim under NEPA is that BOR failed to adequately analyze 

the effects of the proposed oil refinery project.  See Compl. ¶¶ 66-138.  Included in that 

claim are several related arguments, such as BOR’s alleged failure to supplement the 

DEIS and FEIS to discuss the refinery project (Compl. ¶¶ 72-102, ¶¶ 103-111), BOR’s 

                                              
6 Like NEPA, the NHPA imposes certain procedural obligations on federal agencies.  
“Although the obligations imposed by NHPA are ‘separate and independent from those 
mandated by NEPA,’ ... the two statutory schemes are closely related.”  Apache Survival 
Coalition v. United States, 21 F.3d 895, 906 (9th Cir. 1994).  “Both Acts create 
obligations that are chiefly procedural in nature; both have the goal of generating 
information about the impact of federal actions on the environment; and both require that 
the relevant federal agency carefully consider the information produced.”  San Carlos 
Apache Tribe. v. United States, 417 F.3d 1091, 1097 (9th Cir. 2005).   
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improper “segmentation” of the Title Transfer and the refinery project. (Compl. ¶¶ 136-

138), and BOR’s failure to allow the Tribe to meaningfully comment on the refinery 

project and other future uses of the Transfer Lands (Compl. ¶¶ 139-142).  All of these 

arguments turn on the Tribe’s contention that the scope of analysis employed by BOR in 

the FEIS was too narrow and should have included the proposed refinery and, 

presumably, other future (and unknown) uses of the Transfer Lands. 

NEPA requires agencies to consider “all foreseeable direct and indirect impacts” of 

their proposed actions.  Idaho Sporting Congress, Inc. v. Rittenhouse, 305 F.3d 957, 973 

(9th Cir. 2002), citing City of Davis v. Coleman, 521 F.2d 661, 676 (9th Cir. 1975).  

Under the Council of Environmental Quality’s (“CEQ”) regulations, the “effects” (or 

impacts) of a proposed action include both “direct effects” and “indirect effects.”  40 

C.F.R. § 1508.8.  “Direct effects” are “caused by the action and occur at the same time 

and place.”  40 C.F.R. § 1508.8(a).  “Indirect effects” are “caused by the action and are 

later in time or farther removed in distance, but are still reasonably foreseeable.”  40 

C.F.R. § 1508.8(b).  Both definitions include a causation requirement, i.e., the effect must 

have a causal relationship to the proposed federal action (here, the Title Transfer).   

The key issue, therefore, is whether the refinery (or other land development) is 

caused by the Title Transfer.  In a simplistic sense, the refinery project would not be 

proceeding at its proposed location on Transfer Lands if the Title Transfer had not taken 

place.  In other words, but for the conveyance of land to the District, the District would 

not have conveyed the 1,460 acres of land currently owned by ACF, and the proposed 

refinery would not be sited there.  However, this type of attenuated “but for” causal 

relationship is insufficient to make BOR responsible for the future environmental effects 

of the refinery, assuming that it is actually permitted by other agencies and built.  The 

seminal decision on this point is Public Citizen, decided by the Supreme Court in 2004.  

In that case, the Court, in reversing the Ninth Circuit, rejected the use of “but for” 
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causation in determining the scope of analysis required under NEPA, and held that the 

scope of analysis is limited by a rule of reason that ensures an agency’s evaluation of 

effects is useful to its decision-making process.  541 U.S. at 767. 

2. Public Citizen and the Proper Scope of Analysis Under NEPA 

In Public Citizen, the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (“FMCSA”) 

adopted rules imposing registration and safety requirements on Mexican-domiciled motor 

carriers operating in the United States.  To comply with NEPA, FMCSA prepared an 

environmental assessment, determining that the rules would not have a significant impact 

on the environment.  The agency did not evaluate the overall environmental impacts 

caused by Mexican trucks operating in the United States.  Although implementation of the 

rules was a statutory prerequisite for the entry of Mexican trucks into the United States, 

FMCSA reasoned that the impacts resulting from Mexican truck operations would be 

caused by the President’s decision to lift a long-standing moratorium, over which the 

agency had no control.  541 U.S. at 759-62.   

The agency’s rules were challenged on several grounds, including the narrow scope 

of analysis used by FMCSA.  The Ninth Circuit concluded that FMCSA violated NEPA 

by not evaluating all environmental impacts resulting from cross-border truck traffic, 

including adverse air quality impacts in major cities near the border.  Public Citizen v. 

Dep’t of Transp., 316 F.3d 1002, 1021-27 (9th Cir. 2003).   

The Supreme Court reversed, holding that FMCSA had correctly limited the scope 

of its NEPA analysis to the effects of its rules.  The Court explained that the agency’s 

authority was limited to enforcing safety requirements, and “could only regulate emissions 

from Mexican trucks indirectly, through making the safety-registration process more 

onerous.”  541 U.S. at 765.  It also explained that it was uncertain whether “FMCSA 

could, consistent with its limited statutory mandates, reasonably impose … standards 

beyond those already required in its proposed regulations.”  Id.   
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The Court rejected the argument that because adoption of the rules was necessary 

for Mexican trucks to operate in the United States, the scope of NEPA analysis should 

include all impacts caused by their operation, stating that a “but for” causal relationship 

between an agency’s action and an environmental effect “is insufficient to make an 

agency responsible for that particular effect under NEPA and the relevant regulations.  …  

NEPA requires ‘a reasonably close causal relationship’ between the environmental effect 

and the alleged cause.”  Id. at 767 (quoting Metropolitan Edison Co. v. People Against 

Nuclear Energy, 460 U.S. 766, 774 (1983)).  The Court also explained that an agency’s 

obligation under NEPA is subject to a “‘rule of reason,’ which ensures that agencies 

determine whether and to what extent to prepare an EIS based on the usefulness of any 

new potential information to the decisionmaking process.”  Id.  The Court concluded: 

We hold that where an agency has no ability to prevent a 
certain effect due to its limited statutory authority over the 
relevant actions, the agency cannot be considered a legally 
relevant “cause” of the effect.  Hence, under NEPA and the 
implementing CEQ regulations, the agency need not consider 
these effects in its EA when determining whether its action is 
a “major Federal action.” 

Id. at 770.  Thus, FMCSA was required to evaluate only environmental impacts resulting 

from activities that the agency was authorized by Congress to regulate.   

3. The Proposed Refinery Is Not an Effect of the Title Transfer 

In this case, the proposed refinery is not an effect of the Title Transfer for several 

reasons.  As a preliminary matter, the refinery cannot be a direct effect of the Title 

Transfer because it is not “occur[ring] at the same time and place” as the Title Transfer.  

40 C.F.R. § 1508.8(a).  Instead, the refinery is in its preliminary planning stages and will 

be constructed and operated (if at all) in the future.  Consequently, to fall within the 

required scope of analysis under NEPA, the refinery project must be an indirect effect of 

the Title Transfer.  The conveyance of land by BOR to the District, under the terms of the 

1998 MOA and the Transfer Act, however, is not the “legally relevant cause” (Public 
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Citizen, 541 U.S. at 769) of the refinery’s future environmental effects, as BOR 

determined in the ROD.   

First, the refinery could be constructed and operated at other locations.  There are 

some 120,000 acres of private and state land available for development in the Wellton-

Mohawk Valley.  FEIS at 3-3.  See also id. at 1-4 (table showing land ownership).  

Because of the large amount of land currently available for commercial and industrial 

development in the area, BOR determined that the Title Transfer would not alter existing 

growth and development patterns.  Id. at 3-9 to 3-11.  See also id. at 3-46 (the Title 

Transfer is not expected to increase development, but to provide more options), App. E at 

4.  ACF considered at least two potential sites for the refinery, including a site “located on 

private land in eastern Yuma County.”  Id. at 1-11.  Thus, ACF intended to proceed with 

the refinery project on other land if Transfer Lands were not available, and it is clear from 

the record that land was available.  See ROD at 9. 

Consequently, there is no evidence that the Title Transfer induced the refinery 

project (or any other specific commercial or industrial activity), particularly given the 

large amount of private and state land already available for development within or near 

the District.  The decision to site and build a refinery at a particular location is the product 

of a variety of complex factors, including current and projected demand for refined oil 

products, access to supplies of petroleum, the economics of the project, the ability to 

obtain permits and other approvals necessary to operate, and project financing.  Thus, as 

BOR determined, the refinery project “will stand or fall on its own merits” and “is not a 

reasonably foreseeable result of the Title Transfer with the District.”  ROD at 9.   

Second, BOR has no authority or control over the refinery project.  BOR explained 

in the ROD that it “does not have any control over the location or siting of the proposed 

oil refinery in implementing the Title Transfer with the District, and there is no causal 

connection between the Title Transfer and a third party proposal to locate an oil refinery 
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in the Wellton-Mohawk Valley.”  Id.  BOR is responsible for operating and administering 

various water development, storage and delivery projects on western river systems, such 

as the Gila Project.  The Tribe has not alleged that BOR has been delegated authority to 

regulate oil refineries or other land use activities, and none of the BOR’s enabling laws 

grant such authority to the agency.  As discussed above, NEPA (as well as the NHPA) 

does not alter or enlarge BOR’s substantive authority.  Nor do the MOA and the Transfer 

Act give BOR any control over future uses of the Transfer Lands, or authorize BOR to 

withhold or condition the conveyance of land based on its future use, as the Tribe 

implicitly assumes.   

BOR is, therefore, like the FMCSA, which had been delegated authority to enforce 

certain safety and registration requirements, but lacked authority to regulate other aspects 

of Mexican motor carriers’ operations in the United States.  In contrast to BOR, there are 

a number of federal agencies that do have involvement in or control over various aspects 

of the refinery project.  See FEIS at 1-12.  Applying the Public Citizen “rule of reason,” it 

makes far more sense to allow those agencies to conduct any NEPA and NHPA analyses 

required for the refinery project because the information obtained would actually be useful 

to the decision-making process of those agencies.   

In short, a “reasonably close causal connection” between the Title Transfer and the 

proposed refinery or other industrial projects does not exist.  As explained in the FEIS and 

ROD, BOR’s decision was based on an evaluation of potential effect resulting from the 

administrative act of transferring title to the District.  BOR lacks control over future land 

use activities, including the refinery project, as it stated in the ROD.  Consequently, an 

analysis of the refinery’s future (and speculative) impacts would not have any bearing on 

the Title Transfer.  The Public Citizen “rule of reason” prevents exactly the type of 

unnecessary environmental analysis advocated by the Tribe, which would have no impact 

on the agency’s ultimate decision in this case.  See also 40 C.F.R. §1500.1(b) (“NEPA 
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documents must concentrate on the issues that are truly significant to the action in 

question, rather than amassing needless detail”).   

Finally, it should be noted that the refinery was in the preliminary planning stages 

during the NEPA process for the Title Transfer.  Thus, BOR had little information to 

evaluate relating to the refinery and requiring BOR to speculate as to the ultimate design, 

construction and impacts of the refinery would be an impossible task.  “NEPA does not 

require the government to do the impractical.”  Inland Empire, 88 F.3d at 764.  Once 

again, applying the rule of reason, it makes far more sense for the agencies that will be 

issuing permits and other approvals to ACF and, as a result, will have access to more 

current and detailed information about the project, to conduct the NEPA analysis, rather 

than forcing BOR to speculate about the future effects of a project over which it has no 

regulatory authority.   

C. BOR Had No Duty to Supplement Its DEIS and FEIS 

In paragraphs 72 to 111 of the Complaint, the Tribe alleges that BOR had a duty to 

issue a supplemental DEIS and/or supplemental FEIS specifically addressing the effects 

of the refinery project.  Those allegations depend on the Tribe’s erroneous belief that the 

refinery is a direct or indirect effect of the Title Transfer.  See, e.g., Compl. ¶102 (alleging 

the proposed refinery is an “impact of the land transfer proposal”), ¶ 110 (alleging that 

“the oil refinery is a significant indirect impact of the land transfer”).  For the reasons 

stated above, the refinery is not a direct or indirect effect of the Title Transfer. 

These claims also fail for several other reasons.  First, it was contemplated 

throughout the NEPA review process that a portion of the land transferred to the District 

would be sold by the District and used for various residential, commercial and industrial 

purposes in accordance with Yuma County’s comprehensive plan.  For example, 

Appendix E to the DEIS contained a detailed “Land Use Evaluation,” which explained 

that “approximately 9,800 acres [of the Transfer Lands] have been identified as candidate 
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lands for residential, commercial or enhanced agricultural development” under the Yuma 

County 2010 Plan.  DEIS, App. E at 1-2  See also id. at 1-4 to 1-9, 3-6.  The FEIS 

contains a similar discussion.  See, e.g., FEIS at 3-9 (“Approximately 8,400 acres of land 

have been identified by the District as candidate lands for potential community or 

commercial development.”).   

Moreover, the refinery project was widely publicized in the area, as the Tribe has 

admitted in its Complaint.  Compl. ¶¶ 84-93.  Yuma County conducted a public process in 

which the county amended its land use plan to accommodate the refinery project.  Compl. 

¶ 85.  BOR held numerous  meetings with members of the Tribe in 2004 during which the 

refinery project was discussed.  DSOF ¶ 48.  The Tribe’s contention that supplementation 

was necessary because the Tribe (or the public generally ) was unaware of the refinery is 

incorrect.   

The refinery project was extensively addressed in the FEIS.  See, e.g., FEIS at 1-5, 

1-11 to 1-13, 4-4 to 4-7, 4-9 to 4-12, E-2, Maps 1-3, 2-3, 2-9; Chapter 4 (addressing 

cumulative effects), App. E & F.  BOR also addressed the refinery in the ROD issued on 

March 26, 2007, including responses to comments by the Tribe.  ROD at 9-11.  BOR 

further considered and analyzed industrial development and other future land uses on 

pages ES-5, 1-4, 3-3, 3-4, 3-6, 3-7, 3-8, 3-9, 3-10, 3-48, 3-49, 4-1, 4-2 and Appendix E of 

the FEIS.  Thus, there was no legitimate basis for BOR to issue a supplemental FEIS. 

NEPA imposes on federal agencies an ongoing duty to issue supplemental 

environmental analyses in limited circumstances.  Under 40 C.F.R.§  1502.9(c)(1)(ii), an 

agency must prepare a supplemental EIS if “there are significant new circumstances or 

information relevant to environmental concerns and bearing on the proposed action or its 

impacts.” 40 C.F.R. § 1502.9(c)(1)(ii) (emphasis added).  In Marsh, the Supreme Court 

stressed that agencies should apply the rule of reason in determining whether to 

supplement an EIS, explaining that “an agency need not supplement an EIS every time 
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new information comes to light after the EIS is finalized.”  490 U.S. at 373.  The duty to 

supplement “turns on the value of the new information to the still pending decision 

making process.”  Id.  Here, the effects of future, speculative land uses, including the 

proposed refinery, are not new circumstances with any bearing on the Title Transfer 

because of BOR’s limited authority to consider and address the effects of those land uses.  

ROD at 8-9.  Therefore, BOR properly determined that it was unnecessary to issue 

supplements to its DEIS and FEIS discussing the refinery project.7  

D. BOR Did Not Segment Its Environmental Review 

The Tribe also alleges the Title Transfer and the proposed refinery are “interrelated 

actions,” and contends that BOR improperly “segmented” its NEPA analysis by noting 

that the refinery project would be subject to a separate NEPA (and NHPA) process 

conducted by other federal agencies.  Compl. ¶¶ 136-138.  This argument erroneously 

assumes not only that the refinery project is an effect of the Title Transfer, but that the two 

actions are “connected actions” under 40 C.F.R. § 1508.25.  Id.   

Under the CEQ’s regulations, “connected actions” are actions that are “closely 

related and therefore should be discussed in the same [EIS].”  40 C.F.R. § 1508.25(a)(1).  

This regulation identifies three circumstances in which actions should be considered 

connected:  (i) the action automatically triggers other actions that may require an EIS; (ii) 

the action cannot proceed unless other actions are taken previously or simultaneously; and 

(iii) the actions are independent part of a larger action and depend on the larger action for 

their justification.  Id. at (i)-(iii).  None of these circumstances are present here.   

The final circumstance is clearly inapposite because the Title Transfer and the 

refinery project are two separate and discrete actions, subject to entirely different 
                                              
7 The Tribe also alleges that BOR failed to respond to the Tribe’s comments on the DEIS.  
Compl. ¶¶ 139-142.  However, as BOR explained, the Tribe failed to submit comments on 
the DEIS.  ROD at 11.  This claim asserted by the Tribe is nothing more than a variation 
of the Tribe’s claim that BOR was required to issue a supplement DEIS to address the 
refinery, which, as explained, was not an effect of the Title Transfer. 
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regulatory requirements.  BOR’s conveyance of land to the District did not automatically 

trigger the refinery project, which has been separately planned and undertaken by ACF, a 

private party with no relationship to either BOR or the District.  Indeed, at this time, it is 

uncertain whether the refinery will actually be built and operated.  And the refinery 

project could proceed without the Title Transfer.  As explained above, the Wellton-

Mohawk Valley already contained more than 120,000 acres of private and state land 

available for development (see FEIS at 3-3.), and the Yuma County comprehensive plan 

designated approximately 10 percent of the land within the project area for community, 

commercial and industrial development, primarily land along the Interstate 8 corridor (see 

FEIS at 3-6).  Thus, numerous sites were already available for commercial and industrial 

projects in the Wellton-Mohawk Valley prior to the Title Transfer, and the record shows 

that ACF considered other sites for its project.  See ROD at 9; FEIS at 1-11. 

Based on these circumstances, BOR specifically found that “neither action depends 

on the other in the sense that it cannot proceed unless the other action is previously or 

simultaneously taken; furthermore, the two actions are not interdependent parts of a larger 

action,” and that “the two actions do not warrant a simultaneous review.”  ROD at 10.  

That finding was not arbitrary or capricious.  “Where each of two projects would have 

taken place with or without the other, each has ‘independent utility’ and the two are not 

considered connected actions.”  Native Ecosystems Council v. Dombeck, 304 F.3d 886, 

894 (9th Cir. 2002).  See also Wetlands Action Network v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 222 

F.2d 1105, 1118-19 (9th Cir. 2000) (rejecting claim that multiple phases of a real estate 

development were connected actions); Morongo Band of Mission Indians v. Federal 

Aviation Admin., 161 F.3d 569, 579-80 (9th Cir. 1998) (rejecting claim that airport 

projects were connected actions), following Northwest Res. Info. Ctr., Inc. v. Nat’l Marine 

Fisheries Serv., 56 F.3d 1060, 1068 (9th Cir. 1995).   

Finally, the Tribe alleges in its Complaint that BOR improperly segmented its 
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environmental review because BOR noted that the refinery project would require various 

federal permits and approvals, and would therefore be subject to its own independent 

NEPA (and NFMA) analysis.  Compl. ¶ 136.  This argument misses the point, however.  

Because the refinery project was not an effect of the Title Transfer, BOR was not 

obligated to evaluate the effects of the refinery in its EIS.  Therefore, BOR did not defer 

analysis of the refinery’s impacts to those agencies that have regulatory authority over the 

refinery, but instead correctly determined that the refinery project was not an effect of its 

action.  See ROD at 9-10.   

E. BOR Adequately Analyzed Impacts on Cultural Resources 

The Tribe also claims that BOR failed to adequately identify and analyze cultural 

resources in violation of NEPA.  Compl. ¶¶ 114-123.  Specifically, the Tribe alleges that 

the “Bureau failed to conduct an adequate survey of the Transfer Lands and failed to 

adequately evaluate whether, and to what extent, cultural resources will be impacted by 

the land transfer.”  Id. at ¶ 115.  ACF has addressed the Tribe’s allegations regarding the 

NHPA in its motion for summary judgment, in which the District joins.  Here, the Court 

should reject the Tribe’s attempt to turn its NHPA claim into a NEPA claim. 

Boiled down, the Tribe claims that BOR violated NEPA because it failed to 

conduct Class II/III surveys on all 47,000 acres of the Transfer Lands.  Neither NEPA nor 

the NHPA require such surveys.  Rather, 36 C.F.R. § 800.4(b)(1) requires BOR to conduct 

a reasonable and good faith investigation of cultural resources, which the record 

demonstrates BOR did.  See also  Wilson v. Block, 708 F.2d 735, 754 (D.C. Cir. 1983); 

National Indian Youth Council v. Watt, 664 F.2d 220, 228 (10th Cir. 1981).  The BOR 

determined that “the surveys conducted for this project constitute the most comprehensive 

cultural resource inventory conducted in this region to date.”  FEIS at 3-35.  “Based on the 

overall survey results, approximately 92.5 percent of significant cultural resources were 

identified in the project area.”  Id. at 3-38.  The ACHP specifically approved BOR’s 
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survey program.  DSOF ¶ 74.  And the Arizona State Historic Preservation Office 

concurred with the BOR’s eligibility determinations by letters dated November 28, 2005 

and May 1, 2006.  FEIS at 3-40.   

In addition, BOR’s cultural resource survey methodology is entitled to substantial 

deference under NEPA.  See Friends of Endangered Species, Inc. v. Jantzen, 760 F.2d 

976, 986 (9th Cir. 1985) (“NEPA does not require that we decide whether an [EA] is 

based on the best scientific methodology available, nor does NEPA require us to resolve 

disagreements among various scientists as to methodology. … Our task is simply to 

ensure that the procedure followed by the Service resulted in a reasoned analysis of the 

evidence before it, and that the Service made the evidence available to all concerned”); 

Bear Lake Watch, Inc. v. FERC, 324 F.3d 1071, 1076-77 (9th Cir. 2003) (deference is 

owed to an agency’s choice of scientific methodology).  In short, the Tribe has failed to 

demonstrate any violation of NEPA or the NHPA relating to BOR’s cultural surveys.   

F. BOR Correctly Analyzed Cumulative Impacts  

The Tribe’s final NEPA claim is that BOR failed to properly consider the 

cumulative impacts of the Title Transfer.  Compl. ¶¶ 124-135.  This claim again is 

premised on the erroneous belief that the Title Transfer caused the refinery project to 

occur, which, in turn, will spur other industrial development in the area, such as an 

ethanol plant on adjacent private lands.  Based on this attenuated causation, the Tribe 

quarrels with the adequacy of BOR’s cumulative impacts analysis in the FEIS.   

The Tribe, however, misapprehends the cumulative impacts analysis required 

under NEPA.  “Cumulative impacts” are defined as the “impact on the environment that 

results from the incremental impact of the action when added to other past, present and 

reasonably foreseeable future actions.”  40 C.F.R. § 1508.7.  In Public Citizen, the 

Supreme Court held that the requirement to consider cumulative impacts does not alter the 

scope of analysis under NEPA or eliminate the requirement that the impact be causally 
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related to the proposed action.  541 U.S. at 770.  In other words, the scope of the 

cumulative effects analysis is also subject to the same “rule of reason” that limits the 

scope of analysis to “the usefulness of any new potential information to [BOR’s] decision-

making process.”  Id. at 767.   

Here, BOR was required to consider the incremental impacts caused by its action, 

i.e., the Title Transfer, and was not required to consider other, unrelated and speculative 

impacts caused by future, unrelated developments in the project area.  Consistent with that 

obligation, BOR provided a detailed discussion of cumulative impacts of the Title 

Transfer on other land and resource uses in the project area.  This analysis is contained in 

Chapters 3 and 4, and Appendix E, of the FEIS, and included refinery’s impacts on land 

resources and use (FEIS at 4-4), water resources (id. at 4-4), air quality (id. at 4-6), 

biological resources (id. at 4-7), cultural resources (id. at 4-9), transportation (id. at 4-10), 

visual resources (id. at 4-11), noise (id. at 4-11), and socioeconomics (id. at 4-12).  Any 

claim that BOR failed to adequately consider cumulative impacts is unsupportable.  

Moreover, the impacts resulting from future development in the area is speculative 

and unrelated to the Title Transfer.  As explained above, there are some 120,000 acres of 

private and state land available for development in the Wellton-Mohawk Valley.  FEIS at 

3-3.  Because of the large amount of land currently available for commercial and 

industrial development in the area, BOR determined that the Title Transfer would not alter 

existing growth and development patterns.  FEIS at 3-9 to 3-11.  BOR explained: 

Other land use decisions following the title transfer may 
occur.  However, because these decisions are vague, 
speculative, and will depend on a number of future political, 
planning, zoning, and economic factors, they cannot be solely 
attributed to this federal title transfer action, but instead will 
result from the outcomes of these future, uncertain decisions 
and processes. 

Id. at 4-13.  An agency is not required “to consider the possible environmental impacts of 

less imminent actions when preparing the impact statement on proposed actions.  Should 
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contemplated actions later reach the stage of actual proposals, impact statements on them 

will take into account the effect of their approval upon the existing environment.”  Kleppe 

v. Sierra Club, 427 U.S. 390, 420, n. 20 (1976).  Put simply, a cumulative impacts 

analysis is not required for future, speculative projects.  As the Ninth Circuit stated in 

Lands Council v. Powell, 395 F.3d 1019, 1023 (9th Cir. 2004), “[f]or any project that is 

not yet proposed, and is more remote in time, however, a cumulative effects analysis 

would be both speculative and premature.”  See also National Wildlife Fed. v. F.E.R.C., 

912 F.2d 1471, 1478 (D.C. Cir. 1990) (“Kleppe thus clearly establishes that an EIS need 

not delve into the possible effects of a hypothetical project, but need only focus on the 

impact of the particular proposal at issue and other pending or recently approved 

proposals that might be connected to or act cumulatively with the proposal at issue.”).  

Under these circumstances, BOR did not commit a clear error in determining that 

the refinery and other possible developments were not reasonably foreseeable actions 

within BOR’s control and responsibility for the Title Transfer.  ROD at 9-10.    

G. The Tribe’s Remaining Claims Are Groundless 

In addition to alleging violations of NEPA and the NHPA, the Tribe alleges that 

BOR violated the Wellton-Mohawk Transfer Act (see Compl. ¶¶ 179-183) and the APA 

(see Compl. ¶¶ 184-192).  Both of these claims are frivolous. 

The Transfer Act does not allow a private right of action to be asserted by a third 

party against BOR or the District.  See San Carlos Apache Tribe, 417 F.3d at 1093 

(dismissing separate claim under § 106 of the NHPA “on the ground that NHPA contains 

no such private right of action).  Like the NHPA, the Transfer Act “does not expressly 

provide that private individuals may sue to enforce its provisions.”  Id. at 1094.  Further, 

the Tribe lacks prudential standing to assert a claim against BOR for violation of the Act.  

See, e.g., Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154 (1997).  The gist of the Tribe’s claim is that “the 

transfer to ACF for purposes of developing an oil refinery on Transfer Lands is 
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inconsistent with the Transfer Act and in violation of law.”  Compl. ¶ 183.  The Tribe is 

effectively asserting a breach of contract claim, arguing the District’s sale of Transfer 

Lands to ACF for the refinery violated ¶ 2(b) of the MOA.  In its Complaint, however, the 

Tribe (which is not a party to the MOA and has no right to enforce it) has failed to allege 

any interest within the zone of interests protected by the Transfer Act.  To satisfy 

“prudential standing,” the Tribe’s “grievance must arguably fall within the zone of 

interests protected or regulated by the statutory provision or constitutional guarantee 

invoked” in the Complaint.  Bennett, 520 U.S. at 163.  Thus, this claim cannot be asserted. 

The Tribe also asserts that the Title Transfer violated 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).  That 

provision does not impose any substantive or procedural obligations on agencies, but 

simply prescribes the proper scope of review when a court reviews an agency action under 

Chapter 7 of the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§  701-706.  See Staacke v. United States Secretary of 

Labor, 841 F.2d 278, 282 (9th Cir. 1988).  Consequently, the Tribe does not have an 

independent cause of action against BOR because BOR cannot violate 5 U.S.C. § 

706(2)(A).   

V. CONCLUSION. 

On this record, the Court must grant summary judgment in the District’s favor 

because BOR “considered the relevant factors and articulated a rational connection 

between the facts found and the choice made.”  Northwest Ecosystem Alliance v. U.S. Fish 

and Wildlife Serv., 475 F.3d 1136, 1140 (9th Cir. 2007). 
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RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 15th day of October, 2007. 
 

FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C. 
 
 
By:  /s/ Norman D. James____________ 
Norman D. James 
Todd Wiley 
3003 North Central Avenue 
Suite 2600 
Phoenix, AZ  85012-2913 
Attorneys for Defendant Wellton-
Mohawk Irrigation and Drainage District 
and Charles W. Slocum 
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